IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN H. ADAMS

APPELLANT

V.

FILED

CASE NO. 2007-CP-00623

GLORIA GIBBS, ET AL

JUL 3 1 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Respectfully Submitted,

Mr. John H. Adans, # 43754

Mississippi State Penitentiary

Unit 30, D-Building

Parchman, Mississippi 38738

Date:

July 31 , 2007

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I, John H. Adams, do hereby certify that I have this day caused to be mailed Via United states postal Service a true and correct copy of **Brief For Appellant** to the following persons:

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In July of 1987, the Appellant received from the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi, fifteen (15) years for the offense of Cocaine. In July of 1987, the Appellant received from the Circuit Court of Ponotoc County, Mississippi, twenty-five (25) years for the offense of Armed Robbery to run consecutively to the Cocaine charge, Supra. In July of 1988, the Appellant received from the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi, forty (40) years for the offense of Armed Robbery to run consecutively with the Cocaine Charge of twenty-five (25) years, Supra. Then, in July of 1988, the Appellant received from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi, ten (10) years for the offense of Armed Robbery, and ten (10) years for the offense of Burglary to run concurrent with each other, but to run consecutively with all other sentences. In July of 1989, the Appellant received two (2) years in the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi, for the offense of conspiracy to run consecutively with all other sentences for a total term of eighty-two (82) years. (Pre-hearing tr.p. 32).

In 1987, the Appellant arrived at the Mississippi State Penitentiary. Around May of 1995, the Appellant received from the Mississippi State Penitentiary Records Department, a "Time Computation Data Sheet" showing that Appellant's sentence of eighty-two (82) years had been recomputed and stacked to show a parole date of November 4, 2002. And, a conditional discharge date of March 10, 2012 (tr.p. 79).

Around May of 1995, the Appellant received from the Mississippi State Penitentiary Records Department a "Computation Data Sheet" showing that his sentence of eighty-two (82) years had been stacked and cut in half pursuant to (50%) of his time and to Hicks v. Houston, No. 94-0234-M, which gave him a total of (41) years of earntime.

The Appellee's admit to allowing the Appellant (50%) off of the total sentence of (82) years (Pre-hearing tr.p. 15). However, the Appellee's refused to allow the Appellant the (50%) off of the mandatory portion of his sentences for the Armed Robbery charges, which was the "Common Practice" at that time pursuant to Hicks v. Houston, No. 94-0234-M.

The Appellee's through their attorney admits that it was a Common Practice prior to May 14, 1992, for Offenders with Armed Robbery sentences to receive (50%) off of the Mandatory Portion of their sentences. The Appellee's goes on to admit that the Appellant had his Armed Robbery charges prior to May 14, 1992, and therefore, the Appellant falls under the "Common Practice Law" at that time (tr. 77).

During the Pre-hearing held on February 27, 2007, the Appellee's attorney refused to discuss the Connon Practice had for Mandatory Sentences of Armed Robbery prior to May 14, 1992, stating that he was only concerned with the law subsequent to May 14, 1992 (Pre-hearing tr.p. 17).

During the Pre-hearing held on February 27, 2007, the Circuit Court Judge, refused to accept the Appellant's "Computation Data Sheet," dated May 5, 1995, stating that "there was a problem with the authenticity of the sheet," because Ms. Houston, the Director of Records, was no longer employed, she had left the job in 1994 (Pre-hearing tr.p. 28). However, the Appellee's presented the very same type of Computation Data Sheet, showing only a three month differences, Mrs. Houston was still unemployed, Mrs. Houston is identified as Chief Records Director, dated February 27, 1995, the Lower Court Judge accepted the Appellee's Computation Data Sheet (Pre-hearing, Exhibits 1&6). (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 30).

However, the Lower Court judge admits that it doesn't matter whether the Appellant'have the Computation Data Sheet or not. The Lower Court Judge went on to say, that if "this is within the law of 1995, we can compute it again like it should have been done in 1995. This just makes—it's easy to have something to see, track where we are going (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 39).

The Appellee's admits that the Appellant during the period of 2001 through 2003, were receiving trusty status time of (10) days a month. However, the Appellee's recinded the trusty status time and all earntime received prior to the Common Practice for Armed

Robbery of May of 1992, because according to the New Law after 1992, the Appellant had not completed the Mandatory Portion of his sentence (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 45, Exhibit 2).

The Appellee's admits that the computer is trying to make the Appellant serve more time, because the computer is not programed to go back before 1992; which meant the Appellee's had to manually put in 2010 for a parole date for Appellant (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 44).

The Appellee's attorney in the Lower Court admits that the Appellant received earntime on the Mandatory Portion of his sentence; but the record does not reflect that the Appellant received earntime (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 46).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 1987, when the Appellant arrived at the Mississippi State Penitentiary, he had a total term of seven (7) sentences and convictions, and three (3) of the sentences and convictions were Armed Robbery convictions. All seven sentences and convictions were to run consecutively to each other, which gave the Appellant a total term of (82) years.

In May of 1995, the Appellant received from the Mississippi State Penitentiary Records Department, a "Time Computation Data Sheet" informing the Appellant that his time had been stacked and that the Appellant had been given (50%) of earntime for his total sentences of (82) years, which allowed the Appellant to have (41) years.

In May of 1995, the Appellant received from the Mississippi State Penitentiary Records Department, a "Time Computation Data Sheet" informing the Appellant his time had been stacked and that the Appellant had been given (50%) of earntime for his total sentence of (82) years, which allowed the Appellant to have (41) years.

Due to the Appellant having been sentenced and convicted for three (3) Armed Robbery charges, he was not legally entitled to receive earntime on the Armed Robbery charges. However, when the Appellant arrived at the Mississippi State Penitentiary, in 1987, it was a Common Practice for Offenders with Armed Robbery sentences and convictions to receive earntime on the "Mandatory Portion" of their Armed Robbery convictions. The Appellant was allowed under the Common Practice for Armed Robbery Offenders to receive (50%) earntime off of all of his arm robbery convictions; including, the mandatory portion of his sentences.

From 2001 through 2003, the Appellant was placed in trusty status. Appellant was allowed to receive (50%) earntime on the Mandatory Portion of his Armed Robbery convictions based upon the Common Practice had prior to May of 1992. The Appellant was receiving the (50%) earntime for the remainder of his sentences and convictions as well.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT ALLOWING THE APPELLANT

50% EARNTIME ON THE APPELLANT'S ENTIRE SENTENCES AND
CONVICTIONS; INCLUDING, THE MANDATORY PORTION OF THE
APPELLANT'S ARMED ROBBERY SENTENCES AND CONVICTIONS...

The Appellant in this case is not a license attorney, and he implores this Court to not look upon him as one with professional legal skills. In Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S.519,92 S.Ct.594.,30 L.Ed 652,1972 U.S. LEXIS 99, the United States Supreme Court stated in relevant part: Whatever may be the limits on the scope of inquiry of courts into the internal administration of prisons, allegations such as those asserted by appellant, however inartfully pleadeded, are sufficient to call for the opportunity to offer supporting evidence. We can not say with assurance that under the allegations of the prose complaint, which we hold to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers, it appears "beyond doubt that the Appellant can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief."

The Appellant asserts that the Hon.Betty W.Sanders, Circuit Court Judge, in Hicks v.Houston, 94-0234-M, issued in her Corrected Findings and Recommendations, a decision almost identical to the Appellant's present situation.

In 1987, when the Appellant arrived at the Mississippi State Penitentiary, he had a total term of seven (7) sentences and convictions; and three (3) of the sentences and convictions were armed robbery convictions. All seven (7) sentences and convictions were to run consecutively to each other, which gave the Appellant a total of eighty-two (82) years (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 32).

In May of 1995, the Appellant received from the Mississippi State Penitentiary Records Department a "Time Computation Data Sheet" showing that Appellant's sentence of (82) years had been recomputed and stacked to show a parole date of November 4, 2002.

And, conditional discharge date of March 10, 2012 (tr.p. 79). It is the Appellant's contention that the data supra, was obviously determined by granting earntime on his entire sentences; including, the mandatory portion of his armed robbery sentences.

Here, it must be pointed out that the Hon. Betty W. Sanders, Circuit Court Judge, in a Pre-hearing held on February 27, 2007, refused to accept the Appellant's Computation Data Sheet, dated May 5, 1995, stating that there was a problem with the authenticity of the sheet, because Ms. Christine Houston, Director of Records, was not employed at the time, she left her job in 1994 (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 28).

Appellant asserts that although the Lower Court Judge refused to accept his Computation Data Sheet showing only a three (3) month differences, which means, when the Appellee's presented their Computation Data Sheet, dated February 27, 1995, Ms. Houston was unemployed at that time too, and therefore, the Appellee's Computation Data Sheet should have been refused as well (See: Pre-hearing, Exhibits 1&6).(Pre-hearing, tr.p. 28). Also see: Johnson v. State, 260 So.2d 436 (Miss.1972), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated in relevant part: An ambiguity in sentencing must be resolved in favor of an accused.

However, the Lower Court Judge admits that it doesn't matter whether the Appellant have the Computation Data Sheet of 1995 or, not. The Lower Court Judge went on to say that, if "this is within the law of 1995, we can compute it again like it should have been done in 1995. This just makes—it's easy to have something to see, track where we are going (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 39).

In **Hicks v. Houston**, **94-0234-M**, the Mississippi Department of Corrections (MDOC) improperly computed his conditional discharge date just as in the Appellant's case. **Hicks** argued that MDOC improperly denied him earn time on the mandatory portion of his armed robbery sentences. Hicks' sentence was the result of an armed robbery con viction just as the Appellant (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 8).

Appellant asserts that when Ms. Houston calculated his time, she obviously calculated it pursuant to Section 47-5-138 (Supp.19 92), which provides in pertinent part that "an innate shall be

eligible to receive an earn time allowance of one half $(\frac{1}{2})$ of the period of confinement imposed by the court.." in this computation, however, MDOC did not grant Appellant Adams any earn time for the mandatory portion of his armed robbery sentences. Therefore, in his latest computation, Appellant has only (32) years of earn time, and (180) days meritorious earn time. In the May 5, 1995, Computation Data Sheet, Appellant Adams received (41) years of earn time and (180) days meritorious time.

Hicks v. Houston, Supra, pointed out that in Williams v. State, 624 So.@d 496 (Miss.1993), the Supreme Court had occasion to interpret Miss. Code Ann., Section 47-5-139 (Supp. 1992). The Court determined that Section 47-5-139 (1)(e) prohibits an inmate from being eligible to earn "earn time" during the service of the mandatory time. That this portion of the statute became effective May 14, 1992. (Emphasized by the Appellant).

The Court then opined that 47-5-139(1)(e) "appears to be...a mere codification of the prevailing administrative construction and practice..." Unfortunately, 47-5-139(1)(e) is not a codification of the practice that existed prior to the adoption of that statute.

Prior to Williams, Supra, MDOC allowed an inmate to receive earned time on the entire termof his sentence, without any regards to any mandatory time. This is obviously what was done on Appellant's Adams,, May 5,,1995, Computation Data Sheet. (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 18&32).

In Hicks v. Houston, Supra, the Assistant Chief Records Officer presented a sworn statement which states: That his [Hicks] time computation was corrected to comply with the State Supreme Court decision in William v. Puckett, 624 So. 2d 496 (Miss. 1993), which rules an inmate is ineligible to participate in an earn time program while serving a mandatory sentence.

The Appellant asserts that he is presently being subjected to the law outlined within Williams v. Puckett, Supra, which is denying the Appellant all the rights he should be receiving under Hicks v. Houston, Supra, simply because the Appellant was incarcerated at the MDOC in 1987; therefore, the Appellant should be awarded (50%) off of the mandatory portion of his Armed Robbery sentences prior to

٠,

May of 1992.

In Hicks, the first 10 years of his (25) year sentence is mandatory just as the Appellant; therefore, he could not begin to accumulate earned time until 10-24-91, which is the date the first ten years was completed.

In Hicks, the Appellee's earned time allowed previously was an Administrative Misinterpretation of the application of the statute and was corrected to conform with the State Supreme Court decision in William v. Puckett, Supra. (Emphasis added).

Here, the Appellant in the case at bar argues that the very same mistake that happen to Hicks, has been applied to the Appellant. Just as in Hicks v. Houston, Supra, the Appellant has been subjected to his sentences and convictions being erroneously to comply with William v. Puckett, Supra. In Hicks v. Houston, Supra, the Hon. Betty W. Sanders, Magistrate, which was the Lower Court Judge, admits that she has been presented with numerous instances where MDOC has admitted that it was the practice to grant an inmate earned time on his entire sentence prior to the advent of Williams (See: Hicks v. Houston, Supra, tr.p. 62).

Appellee's attorney admits that the Appellant received earned time on the mandatory portion of his armed robbery sentences; but the record does not reflect that the Appellant received earned time on his mandatory portion (See: Pre-hearing, tr.p. 46).

Appellee's attorney admits that this was the whole confussion, Appellant's ten (10) years is still mandatory, which is the armed robberies convictions. It is a separate law for parole eligibility, but the Appellee's has given the Appellant half off on the total of the (82) years. (Pre-hearing, tr.p. 46 & 47).

The question, therefore, is does the application of 47-5-139 (1)(e) to deny earned time on mandatory sentences imposed prior to May 14, 1992, constitute the imposition of an Ex Post Facto Law on Hicks and now the Appellant. Hon. betty W. Sanders, Circuit Court Judge, went on to say that it is clear that prior to May 14, 1992, and Williams, MDOC granted inmates earned time on the entire sentence, without regard to the mandatory portion (See: Pre-hearing,