IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2007-CP-00623

JOHN HENRY ADAMS APPELLANT

vs.

GLORIA GIBBS, DIRECTOR OF RECORDS APPELLEE

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JANE L. MAPP SPECIAL ASSIST. ATTORNEY GENERAL MSB# 510 George Street, Suite 212 Jackson, MS 39202 (601) 359-5770

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about April 18, 2006, John Henry Adams, an inmate legally incarcerated within the Mississippi Department of Corrections ("MDOC") filed a "Petition for an Order to Show Cause or, Alternatively, Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus" in the Circuit Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi, against the Gloria Gibbs, Records Tech Supervisor at the Mississippi State Penitentiary. (C.P. at 2)¹. According to the time sheet attached to his complaint, Adams is serving two concurrent 15 year sentences for Cocaine-Sell, a consecutive 25 year sentence for Armed Robbery, a concurrent 15 year sentence for Robbery, a consecutive 40 year sentence for Armed Robbery, a concurrent 10 year sentence for Residential Burglary, a concurrent 10 year sentence for Armed Robbery and a consecutive 2 year sentence for Conspiracy to Commit a Crime. Adams has a total term to serve of 82 years. (C.P. at 19). He was sentenced for all of these crimes prior to May 14, 1992. (C.P. at 19).

In his Petition Adams states that on December 12, 2005 he received a copy of an Order in the Sunflower County Circuit Court case of *Travis Levy v. Christopher Epps*, Cause No. 2004-0062-M, in which the court noted that he, John Adams, # 43754, received his armed robbery sentence before May 14, 1992 and therefore had received earned time on the entire sentence, including the mandatory portion, as was the practice at that time. (C.P. at 3, 14). Adams argues that his current time sheet does not reflect that he has received the 50%

 $^{1}C.P. = Clerk's Papers$

earned time allowance off his entire sentence. He states that an earlier time sheet he received which he attaches to his complaint as Exhibit "D" is actually correct. He states that on that time sheet he was properly given 41 years of earned time off his 82 year sentence and an addition 15 years off the mandatory portion of his sentence giving him a conditional discharge date of March 10, 2012.² (C.P. at 4). He also states that on or about March 10, 200 he was placed in trusty status and was awarded 2 years, 205 days of trusty time, plus 180 Meritorious Earned Time (M.E.T.). Adams states that he did not receive any trusty time off the mandatory portion of his sentence. These allowances advanced his parole date to January 4, 2008. (C.P. at 4). Adams received yet another time sheet date May 5, 2003 showing all of the trusty time had been taken away making his parole eligibility date November 4, 2010. (C.P. at 5).³ Adams argues that his current time sheet shows that his has 30 years of mandatory time and that he has never been granted any earned time off the mandatory portion of his sentence. (C.P. at 5, 19). He states that the time sheet reflects only 32 years, 180 days of earned time where previously he had received 41 years of earned time and 180 of M.E.T. (C.P. at 6, 19).

²Adams never explains why he believes he is entitled to an additional 15 years of earned time off the mandatory portion of his sentence when he had already received 41 years or 50% off his entire 82 year total term.

³The Mississippi Court of Appeals in *Adams v. Epps*, 900 So.2d 1210, 1213 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) held that Adams was not eligible to receive trusty time while serving the mandatory portion of his sentence and that MDOC had correctly removed the trusty earned time allowance from his time sheet.

Adams argues that MDOC has improperly denied him earned time on the mandatory portions of his armed robbery sentences in violation of the *ex post facto* clause of the constitution.

The Circuit Court dismissed Adams's complaint finding he had in fact received the

50% earned time allowance off his entire 82 year sentence, plus an additional 180 days of

M.E.T. (C.P. at 105).

Feeling aggrieved, Adams filed his notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court

Court and was granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis. (C.P. at 107; 117).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an administrative agency appeal, the standard of review applied by this Court is identical to that of the circuit court. This Court cannot disturb the decision of an administrative agency, here the MDOC, unless the decision was unsupported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary or capricious, was beyond the agency's scope or powers or violated the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved party.

Siggers v. Epps, 962 So.2d 78, 80 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(internal citations omitted).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Adams argument is moot because he has in fact received the 50% earned time

allowance off his entire 82 year sentence, including the mandatory portion.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the Lower Court Erred by Not Allowing the Appellant 50% Earn Time on the Appellant's Entire Sentences and Convictions; Including, the Mandatory Portion of the Appellant's Armed Robbery Sentences and Convictions. The crux of the Appellant John Henry Adams' argument is that since he was sentenced prior to May 14, 1992 he is entitled to received the 50% earned time allowance off his entire 82 year sentence, including the mandatory portions of his two consecutive armed robbery sentences.

Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-139(1)(e) was amended effective May 14, 1992 to state that an inmate is not eligible for the earned time allowance if he "has not served the mandatory time required for parole eligibility for a conviction of robbery or attempted robbery with a deadly weapon."⁴ Adams was sentenced, prior to the enactment of § 47-5-139(1)(e) and at that time it was MDOC practice to allow an inmate to accrue earned time on his entire sentence, including mandatory portion. However, as has always been the practice of MDOC, this earned time is only applied to the non-mandatory portion of the sentences and can not be used to reduce the time to be served on a mandatory portion of a sentence. Furthermore, the earned time allowance has no bearing on an offender's parole eligibility, only his discharge date.

Adams is getting confused by two things: 1) the 1995 time sheet found at page 16 of

⁴The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Williams v. Puckett*, 624 So.2d 496 (Miss. 1993), held that this amendment was merely a codification of existing MDOC practice and therefore was not ex post facto when applied retroactively. The Circuit Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi in *Hicks v. Houston*, No. 94-0234M found that this was "not a codification of practice that existed prior to the adoption of that statute." The Circuit Court found that it had previously been the practice of MDOC to grant earned time off the entire sentence, including the mandatory portion, and therefore application of § 47-5-139(1)(e) to any sentence imposed before May 14, 1992 was ex post facto. MDOC has since abided by the Circuit Court's decision and has granted the 50% earned time allowance off an offender's entire sentence if imposed prior to May 14, 1992.

the clerk's papers shows an obviously incorrect sentence computation and 2) his current time sheet while granting him the 41 years of earned time off his tentative release date shows only 32 years, 180 days earned time in the summary section. The 1995 time sheet will be addressed first. The time sheet shows that Adams has an 82 year total term with a Begin Date of February 3, 1987. However, the time sheet lists his Earliest Conditional Discharge Date as March 10, 2012, just a little more that 25 years from his begin date. This would mean that Adams received nearly 57 years of earned time on a 82 year sentence, well in excess of the 50% earned time allowance. This time sheet was clearly incorrect. The Mississippi Court of Appeals in an earlier case brought by Adams regarding trusty time held that "[a]n MDOC employee's clerical mistake or oversight does not actually confer eligibility for earned time allowances." *Adams v. Epps*, 900 So.2d 1210, 1213 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005).⁵

Secondly, as the trial court found, Adams has been granted a 50% earned time allowance totaling 41 years off his entire 82 year sentence. The probable reason the summary section of his time sheet shows only 32 years, 180 days of total earned time and zero (0) days M.E.T. is because the computer calculated his time under the post-May 14, 1992 rules and a manual override of his release dates had to be done.⁶ Simply doing the math

^sIn *Adams I* the court held that Adams was not eligible for trusty earned time on the mandatory portion of his sentence.

⁶An even more recent time sheet is found at page 28 of the clerk's papers. This time sheet shows that the computer calculated Adams' time using current law which is that armed robbery sentences are mandatory in their entirety. As can be seen on the time sheet, a manual override of his parole date and tentative discharge date was done to comply with pre-May 14, 1992 law and practice.

shows that Adams has actually received 41 years of earned time, plus 180 days M.E.T. less 60 days lost earned time due to a frivolous lawsuit.

Begin Date:	February 3, 1987
+ 82 years	February 3, 2069
- 41 years Earned Time	February 3, 2028
- 180 days M.E.T.	August 3, 2027
+ 60 days lost Earned Time	October 3, 2027

Adams' current Tentative Discharge Date as reflected on his most recent time sheet is October 3, 2027. Accordingly, Adams argument is moot because he has in fact received the 50% earned time allowance off his entire 82 year sentence, including the mandatory portion.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments of fact and law herein above, it is clear that the trial court did not commit reversible error and the dismissal of this action by the lower court should be affirmed.